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NRC FORM 591FF PART 1 (12-2007)  Enclosure 

LICENSEE OR CERTIFICATE HOLDER: 

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license or certificate as they relate to safety and/or 
safeguards and to compliance with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license 
or certificate.  The inspection consisted of selective examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, 
and observations by the inspectors.  The inspection findings are as follows: 

 1.  Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified. 

 2.  Previous violation(s) closed. 

 3.  Reported events reviewed 

 

4.  The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspectors as non-cited violations, are not being 
cited because they were self-identified, non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the 
remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, to exercise discretion, were satisfied. 
Non-Cited Violation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s) and Corrective Action(s): 

 

5.  During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of 
NRC requirements and are being cited.  This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to 
posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11. 
(Violations and Corrective Actions) 

 

LICENSEE OR CERTIFICATE HOLDER STATEMENT OF CORRECTIVE ACTIONS FOR ITEM 5, ABOVE 
 

 I hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the inspectors will be taken to correct the violation(s) identified.  This 
statement of corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective 
steps which will be taken, date when full compliance will be achieved).  I understand that no further written response to the NRC will be 
required, unless specifically requested. 

Title Printed Name Signature Date

LICENSEE/CERTIFICATE 
HOLDER REPRESENTATIVE 

   

NRC INSPECTORS Jennifer Foster         /RA/ 11/8/2010 



NRC FORM 591FF PART 3 
(12-2007) 
10 CFR 2.201 

 U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

INSPECTION REPORT 
1.  LICENSEE OR CERTIFICATE HOLDER/LOCATION INSPECTED: 2.  NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE: 

United States Enrichment Corporation 
6903 Rockledge Drive 
Bethesda, MD   20817      

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
Region II 
245 Peachtree Center Avenue, NE, Suite 1200 
Atlanta, GA 30303-1257 

REPORT NO: 2010-005 

3.  DOCKET NUMBER: 4.  LICENSE OR CERTIFICATE HOLDER NUMBER: 5.  DATE(S) OF INSPECTION: 

70-7002 GDP-2 October 18-21, 2010 
 

NRC FORM 591FF PART 3 (12-2007)   

6.  INSPECTORS(S):  J. Foster, C. Fisher 

7.  INSPECTION PROCEDURES USED: 88045, 88035  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

 

Summary of Plant Status 
 
• In the past, the Portsmouth Gaseous Diffusion Plant (GDP) discontinued uranium hexafluoride (UF6) 

enrichment processes.  The facility retained its discontinued status during the timeframe covered in this 
inspection and supported limited equipment operations in the process buildings to complete the removal of 
uranium deposit residues, UF6 cleanup and repackaging, and equipment removal.   
 

• On September 30, 2010, all of the process buildings, X-326, X-330, and X-333, and all autoclave facilities, 
X-343, X-344, and X-342, which were previously regulated by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) 
were de-leased to the Department of Energy.  After September 30, 2010, the NRC continued to have 
regulatory oversight over several of the safety significant buildings.  The safety significant buildings which 
contain SNM and will continue to be regulated by the NRC are the X-700 and X-705 Decontamination 
Facilities, X-710 Technical Services Building and Laboratory, XT-847 Waste Handling Facility, and the X-
745 Series Cylinder Yards.  The safety significant buildings under NRC jurisdiction which do not contain 
SNM are the X-300 Plant Control Facility, X-1020 Emergency Control Center, and the X-720 Maintenance 
Facility. 

 
• The Effluent Control and Environmental Protection inspection evaluated all liquid and airborne effluents 

which originated in the process buildings and autoclave facilities despite the September 30, 2010 de-
leasing.  The timeframe covered by the inspection was from the last environmental inspection,  
December 10, 2009, until the exit meeting of the current inspection on October 21, 2010.  The inspection 
included all activities regulated by the NRC at any point during this timeframe.   

 
• The Radioactive Waste Management inspection was unaffected by the September 30, 2010 de-lease as 

the XT-847 Waste Handling Facility and associated activities remained under NRC jurisdiction. 
 
Effluent Control and Environmental Protection (IP 88045) 
 
• The inspectors observed the material condition of a sample of the liquid holding ponds and liquid effluent 

outfalls and determined the condition to be adequate.  The inspectors verified that the outfalls with 
continuous flow were monitored with composite samplers as required by the Safety Analysis Report (SAR).  
During sampling observations, the inspectors noted an inconsistency regarding the ratio of the liquid 
effluent water collected by the compositor.  The compositor was set to collect a consistent ratio each day, 
however after a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) sample was taken from the 
compositor after the first 24 hours of effluent collection; the liquid volume ratios between the days in the 
one week time period were not equal.   
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The certificate holder captured the observation in PR-PTS-10-02289.  The inspectors determined that the 
imprecise daily liquid effluent ratios were of low safety significance due to the low concentrations of 
uranium in the liquid effluents. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed weekly liquid effluent sampling records between July 1 and September 14, 2010 

and verified that the isotopes required by the SAR were analyzed.  The inspectors also compared the 
sampling results to the action levels, Baseline Effluent Quantity (BEQ) values, listed in the SAR.  The 
majority of the samples were below the BEQ values; however the samples above the BEQ values were 
documented and reviewed as required by the SAR.   

 
• The inspectors reviewed storm water discharge maps and verified that the storm water was emptied into 

holding ponds upstream of the liquid effluent sampling point.  The inspectors reviewed an internal 
memorandum, Calendar Year 2009 Update to Environmental Compliance Status Report, which 
documented the NPDES Permit exceedances in 2009.  The inspectors also verified that the certificate 
holder did not release radioactive liquid effluents to a municipal sewer system as all plant sewage is treated 
onsite.  No issues of significance were identified. 

 
• The inspectors observed the weekly change out of a primary alumina trap which was continuously 

monitoring a stack in the 330 building and determined that it was in accordance with approved procedures.  
Through interviews with technicians, the inspectors verified that the secondary alumina traps were changed 
on a quarterly frequency as required by the SAR.  The inspectors accompanied the technicians to the 
analytical laboratory and observed the sample preparation of the alumina traps and the initial detection of 
the alumina using a Sodium Iodine detector.  The inspectors interviewed the technician on what the action 
levels and associated actions were for elevated results and determined that each was adequately 
documented.  The analysis results of the alumina collected during the sampling activity were less than the 
documented action levels. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed the airborne effluent data from the stack samples and compared them to the BEQ 

levels listed.  When a BEQ was exceeded, the inspectors verified that the certificate holder followed 
appropriate actions.  For instances where BEQs were exceeded by an amount specified in the SAR Table 
5.1-1, then plant action level exceedance memos were issued, which the inspectors also reviewed.  No 
issues were identified during this review of airborne effluents.  

 
• The inspectors verified that the BEQ values for both liquid and airborne effluents were reviewed annually 

as required by the SAR.  The inspectors reviewed the September 24, 2009 internal memorandum, 
Reevaluation of Baseline Effluent Quantity Values, and determined that the BEQ values had not changed 
since the last inspection. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed the USEC Portsmouth Gaseous Diffusion Plant’s National Emission Standards for 

Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) Radionuclide Emissions Report for Calendar Year 2009.  The 
inspectors reviewed the public dose estimate which included USEC GDP, the Lead Cascade, and DOE.  
The public dose estimate was below the 10 CFR 1301 regulatory limit of 100 mrem/year and below the 10 
CFR 20.1101(d) ALARA goal of 10 mrem/year from airborne emissions.  The inspectors conducted a 
review of the liquid effluent dose calculations and reviewed the CAP-88 modeling results for airborne 
effluents.  The public dose analysis did not include direct external radiation as permitted in the SAR. The 
inspectors determined that the public dose calculations were completed in accordance with approved 
procedures and were adequate. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed the 2010 sampling results from fish, crop and dairy, and the 2009 and 2010 

environmental external radiation results. The inspectors reviewed the Fall 2009 and Spring 2010 
semiannual sampling results for vegetation and soil.  The inspectors also reviewed the procedures for 
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collecting soil and vegetation samples.   The inspectors determined that the environmental sampling 
program was conducted in accordance with the SAR requirements and did not identify any issues of 
significance.   

 
• The inspectors interviewed certificate holder’s staff and determined that there had not been a significant 

change in the environmental protection program or in staff since the last inspection.  The inspectors 
reviewed a sample of procedures and determined that there had not been any significant changes since 
the last year.  The inspectors reviewed a sample of problem reports that had been entered into the 
certificate holder’s problem report system.  The problem reports looked at covered vent emissions, 
pollution prevention, and NPDES samples.  The inspectors found that problem reports were being 
reviewed and addressed. 

 
Radioactive Waste Management (IP 88035) 
 
• The inspectors interviewed certificate holder’s staff on changes in the program and determined that there 

had not been any major changes in the program, staffing, or in procedural revisions since the last 
inspection.  The inspectors reviewed the organization chart and confirmed that individuals responsible for 
radioactive waste processing were designated.  The inspectors reviewed procedure XP2-EW-WM1032, 
Waste Generation, and determined that the responsibilities were adequately designated. 

 
• The inspectors conducted a walkthrough with the certificate holder’s staff to look at the box monitor that the 

certificate holder used to determine the radionuclide concentrations in radioactive waste containers.  The 
box monitor consisted of two neutron and four gamma detectors, which took one hour counts.  The 
certificate holder also used a hand-held detector to find the fill height and to determine if there are any “hot 
spots” in the radioactive waste shipment container. 

 
• The inspectors determined through interviews and through a review of various disposal site licenses that 

the certificate holder ships radioactive waste for near surface disposal, but, however did not incinerate 
waste.  The inspectors reviewed disposal site licenses from IMPACT Services, Permafix of Florida Inc., 
and Energy Solutions LLC., to verify that the disposal sites could receive material from the certificate holder 
and that the certificate holder was meeting the disposal site license conditions.  The inspectors reviewed 
three Request for Disposal forms of randomly selected waste containers and verified that the waste was 
appropriately classified in accordance to the requirements of 10 CFR 61.55 as a Class A waste.  The 
inspectors determined through interviews that the waste generated since the last inspection was Class A 
material and that no Class B or C material was generated.   

 
• The inspectors reviewed three routine weekly radiation surveys and one quarterly radiation survey 

conducted in the XT-847 waste storage building.  The surveys demonstrated low levels of radiation and no 
issues of significance were identified. 

 
• The inspectors interviewed staff regarding the accountability and inventory process, DYMCUS, to track the 

radioactive waste containers and determined that the process was adequate.  The inspectors reviewed 
Material Control and Accountability documentation to ensure that the licensed material stored on site was 
less than the regulatory possession limits.  The inspectors determined that the mass of high-enriched 
uranium, low-enriched uranium, and depleted uranium were all less than the limits given in Section 1.6 of 
the SAR. 

 
• The inspectors conducted tours throughout the XT-847 waste storage building in order to observe the 

material condition of the waste packages and the storage facilities.  The inspectors determined that the 
waste packages were adequate for the expected term of storage and maintained integrity.  The inspectors 
determined that the storage area was adequate and contained stable placement of the waste packages 
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and were protected from the environment and temperature extremes.  The waste storage building had 
appropriate security as it was within the plant protected area.  The inspectors verified that the XT-847 was 
appropriately posted as a Radiation Material Area in accordance with 10 CRF 20.1902.  The inspectors 
observed the labeling on the radioactive waste containers.  The inspectors confirmed that a Caution 
Radioactive Material label was visible on each container as specified in 10 CFR 20.1904.  The certificate 
holder’s staff observed degradation of some of the labels in the waste storage area, in order to address the 
degradation the certificate holder’s staff issued problem report PR-PTS-02287. 

 
• The inspectors reviewed a letter provided to the NRC on May 21, 2010, “10 CFR 71.98 – Type B(U)F 

Transportation Package Report (USA/9196/B(U)F-96),” to determine the safety significance of a UF6 
cylinder that was shipped without the required “U” stamp on the nameplate.  The “U” stamp on the 
nameplate of a UF6 cylinder identifies the cylinder as meeting required ASME code standards.  The 
inspectors determined through interviews with the certificate holder’s staff, reviews of the letter, the 
requirements report (ID= 149094) and the updated UF6 cylinder inspection and rejection procedure, 
that even though the cylinder did not have the “U” stamp it met the required ASME codes.  The 
certificate holder took appropriate corrective actions to ensure that the error will not be repeated in 
the future.   
 

Exit Meeting Summary 
 
•  The inspection scope and results were summarized on Thursday, October 21, 2010, with members of the 

certificate holder’s staff.  No proprietary information was identified.  
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Procedures Reviewed 
 
XP4-EW-EV7502 Rev. 7  Collection of Environmental Water Samples 
XP4-TS-CY6412 Rev. 6  Operational Procedure for the Continuous Vent Stack Samplers 
XP4-EW-EN1800 Rev. 1  Conduct of the Radiological Environmental Protection Program 
XP4-EW-EN1804 Rev. 3  Tracking of Radiological Releases to the Environment 
XP4-EW-EN1805 Rev. 3  Public Dose Assessment 
XP2-EW-WM1032 Rev. 9  Waste Generation 
XP4-EW-WM2500 Rev. 7  Waste Handling 
XP2-EW-EW1031 Rev. 4  Waste Management 
XP4-EW-EV7518 Rev. 3 pH Control of Holding Pond Effluents 
XP4-EW-EV7501 Rev. 3C Collection of Soil and Vegetation Samples 
XP2-TE-TE6031 Rev. 14C  Inspection and Rejection of UF6 Cylinders 
XP2-EW-EN1032 Rev. 5 Compliance with USEC National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

(NPDES) 
 
Key Points of Contact 
 
Name Title 
D. Fogel Nuclear Regulatory Affairs Manager 
J. France 
B. Halcomb 
E. Foster 
E. Lamerson 
R. Conkel 

Regulatory Compliance 
Environmental Compliance/ Waste Management Manager 
Env. Compliance and Waste Management Engineer 
Env. Compliance and Waste Management Engineer 
Env. Compliance and Waste Management Engineer 
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